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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
EASTERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK
------------------------------------------------------------------------- X
CHIN TUAN, HANNAH ALBUM, MAYA BRAXTON,
:
:
MONIQUE HORTON, ROBERT KNORR, EVELISSE
LUCIANO, RYAN McCARTHY, SEAN MILLER, EVA
:
:
MITCHELL and NICOLE TRUDEAU,
:
Plaintiffs,
:
:
-against:
:
TOWN SPORTS INTERNATIONAL, LLC and TOWN
:
SPORTS INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS, INC. d/b/a
:
:
NEW YORK SPORTS CLUBS, BOSTON SPORTS
CLUBS, WASHINGTON SPORTS CLUBS and
:
:
PHILADELPHIA SPORTS CLUBS,
:
:
Defendants.
------------------------------------------------------------------------- X

Civil Action No.

COMPLAINT

Plaintiffs allege as follows:
PRELIMINARY STATEMENT
1.

Town Sports International LLC (“TSI”) is a publicly-traded company which

operates gyms throughout the Northeast including New York Sports Clubs (“NYSC”), Boston
Sports Clubs (“BSC”), Philadelphia Sports Clubs (“PSC”) and Washington Sports Clubs
(“WSC”). TSI boasts more than 600,000 gym members and annual revenues of almost $500
million. NYSC is TSI’s flagship brand with more than 98 gyms in the New York City area.
2.

It is not hyperbole to say that TSI engages in deceptive, dishonest and fraudulent

conduct that amounts to stealing from the pockets of its customers. Despite both a legal and
ethical obligation to be candid in the way it conducts business, TSI rips-off its gym members
when they attempt to cancel their gym memberships. As many New Yorkers know, cancelling a
gym membership at NYSC can feel like a Herculean task. TSI routinely refuses to accept or
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process cancellation requests on no grounds or utterly specious grounds, and, as a result, TSI will
continue to charge the members’ credit cards without authorization.
3.

Moreover, at the time of enrollment, TSI has its customers sign an electronic pad

to complete the enrollment process. Little do customers know, but TSI uses these electronic pads
to “capture” the customer’s signature and then “paste” it onto an electronic contract which has
numerous terms the customer was never informed about, let alone ever agreed to. Among these
terms are provisions that make cancellation extremely difficult and permit TSI to continue
charging fees even after the member has cancelled his or her membership.
4.

This is far from the first time TSI has been faced with these allegations – yet it

refuses to take action or responsibility for this conduct. In November 2016, the Washington D.C.
Attorney General’s Office (the “DC AG”) announced a settlement with TSI following an
investigation into its fraudulent cancellation practices. The DC AG issued a press release stating:
Consumers should not be on the hook when companies mislead
them with unclear and inconsistent cancellation policies.
Washington Sports Club members who made a good-faith effort to
end their membership deserve the restitution that this settlement
provides . . . Although the membership agreements stated that
consumers must cancel in writing and give 30 days’ notice, club
employees routinely told consumers that they could cancel at any
time by informing a desk employee or manager at the club. The
company then continued to charge consumers who canceled in this
manner.1
5.

As part of the settlement, TSI agreed that it would not “engage in any unlawful

practice prohibited by [DC consumer protection laws],” that it would not “make any oral or
written statements that have the capacity, tendency, or effect of deceiving or misleading
consumers concerning their ability to cancel their fitness center memberships,” and that it would
“clearly and conspicuously inform consumers of its cancellation policies, both at the time
1

Available at: https://oag.dc.gov/release/attorney-general-obtains-settlement-washington
2
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consumers enter into or renew any membership agreement(s), or at the time they seek to cancel
their memberships, if such cancellation request is made in any manner inconsistent with TSI’s
operative cancellation policies.” Numerous additional terms were included as well. See Ex. A.
6.

Following this settlement, TSI appears to have made no genuine changes and

continued to operate with a “business as usual” approach. Accordingly, it should have come as
no surprise that in 2018, 55 individuals – TSI gyms members from six different states – filed a
class action against TSI claiming that they were subject to nearly identical fraudulent business
practices as what had been investigated by the DC AG. See Lehnert, et al. v. Town Sports
International, LLC, et al., No. 18-cv-02705 (Second Amended Complaint with 55 plaintiffs filed
December 7, 2018). The Lehnert action details the horrific treatment suffered by TSI’s gym
members who were paying customers and were not able to cancel their memberships.
7.

Moreover, although TSI is doubtlessly aware of this, the complaint in the Lehnert

action cited numerous complaints that are readily available on the internet in which consumers
have complained vociferously about being deceived and misled by TSI’s cancellation practices.
The Lehnert complaint direct-quoted approximately 14 of these publicly available complaints
and stated that many, many others exist. Below is just a small sampling of additional consumer
complaints available online on Yelp!:

3
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8.

Similarly, the Better Business Bureau (“BBB”) has received an outrageous

number of complaints from consumers regarding TSI’s conduct. While complaints regarding
cancellation-related issues are not the only type of complaint, over the last three years the BBB
has received almost 1,000 consumer complaints from TSI’s gym members. Just last month, a
consumer complained to the BBB as follows:

9.

Not surprisingly, based on TSI’s conduct, the BBB gives the company an overall

“F” grade and customer reviews yield a score of one-star out of five-stars:2

10.

TSI’s “F” rating with the BBB is not the result of one “bad apple” that brings

down the rest of the company. To the contrary, each NYSC gym location represented on the
BBB website has been given the same failing grade:

2

Available at: https://www.bbb.org/us/ny/new-york/profile/health-club/new-york-sportsclubs-0121-554#overview
6
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11.

But that is hardly the end of the story. On January 8, 2019, the DC AG filed a

new lawsuit against TSI captioned as District of Columbia v. Town Sports International, LLC,
No. 2019 CA 000126 (D.C. Sup. Ct. Jan. 8, 2019), this time alleging that:
[S]ince entering into the [settlement agreement], TSI has continued
to engage in cancellation practices in violation of both the
[settlement agreement] as well as the [consumer protection laws].
In particular, TSI makes misrepresentations about its cancellation
policies and fees to lure consumers to purchase memberships. For
example, consumers are told that they may cancel at any time for
free, when, in fact, TSI requires approximately six weeks’ notice
7
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and charges cancellation fees. TSI also maintains policies that
make it extremely difficult for consumers to cancel their
memberships and TSI fails to inform consumers of these policies.
As a result, consumers believe that they have taken the appropriate
steps to cancel their memberships, but TSI continues to charge
consumers for months (and sometimes years). In some cases,
consumers have continued being charged even after receiving
emails confirming their cancellation or being verbally assured by
TSI representatives that their memberships had been effectively
cancelled. Adding to this confusion, TSI does not provide written
membership contracts to consumers that include its cancellation
policies, even after consumers request copies.
See Ex. B at ¶3. The DC AG also alleged – identically to the Lehnert plaintiffs – that:
TSI uses an electronic signing pad when signing up consumers for
memberships at its facilities. TSI representatives verbally
communicate the terms of membership to consumers. As
described above, however, TSI representatives make false and
misleading statements about consumers’ membership terms that
contradict the terms in TSI's membership contracts. TSI does not
allow consumers to view the terms of membership when signing
up. Instead, consumers are asked to sign an electronic pad without
having the opportunity to read or review the terms of their
membership agreements.
Id. at ¶18.
12.

The DC AG seeks to “stop TSI from engaging in the unlawful trade practices”

including making deceiving or misleading statements to consumers about the cancellation of
their memberships and/or making untrue or misleading representations regarding its cancellation
policies. The DC AG has also issued a press release stating:
It’s clear that Washington Sports Club is still making money by
deceiving consumers, and that is not acceptable . . . We are filing
this lawsuit to protect District consumers and to warn businesses
that if they profit by misleading or hiding information, we will
hold them accountable for breaking the law . . . TSI is violating
both consumer protection laws and a 2016 settlement agreement by
misleading consumers about the terms of membership agreements,
failing to inform them of the gym’s cancellation policies, and
continuing to charge them even after they attempt to cancel their
gym memberships, among other deceptive business practices. [We

8
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are] seeking to stop TSI’s illegal conduct, provide relief for
consumers who were harmed, and impose civil penalties.3
13.

Incredibly, after all of these legal actions – an enforcement action by the DC AG,

a 55-plaintiff federal class action lawsuit, and a second enforcement action by the DC AG (not to
mention hundreds of consumer complaints through online and other channels) – TSI still refuses
to take any action to change its cancellation practices, thus, necessitating this action as well.
Plaintiffs in this action continue to be defrauded by TSI’s deceptive and misleading conduct and
seek relief to ensure that it changes once and for all – the public simply should not stand for a
company that behaves in this manner.4
14.

Plaintiffs bring this action seeking declaratory, injunctive and monetary relief due

to TSI’s unlawful conduct in violation of New York General Business Law (“GBL”) §349; D.C.
Consumer Protection Procedures Act §28-3901, et seq. (“DCCPPA”); Connecticut Unfair Trade
Practices Act, §42-110, et seq. (“CUTPA”); and Mass. Consumer Protection Act, M.G.L.A. c.
93A §§1, et seq.(“MGL 93A”) (the “Consumer Fraud and Protection Statutes”); and/or for
engaging in conversion.

3

Available at: https://oag.dc.gov/release/ag-racine-sues-washington-sports-clubmisleading
4
TSI has even refused to disclose the existence of these actions to its shareholders.
Pursuant to Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) rules, all publicly-traded companies
are obligated to provide an annual report using Form 10-K. Item 3 of a Form 10-K requires
disclosure of relevant legal proceedings. Companies submitting a Form 10-K are obligated to
disclose “any material pending legal proceedings, other than ordinary routine litigation incidental
to the business.” While companies are not generally required to disclose lawsuits unless they
pose a threat to up to 10 percent of its assets, clearly this litigation is not “routine” or
“incidental” as TSI continues to be repeatedly investigated and sued for these issues by both
private individuals and public entities, and similar actions will almost certainly continue to be
filed and pose liability unless TSI changes its conduct.
9
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JURISDICTION AND VENUE
15.

The Court has diversity jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §

1332(a)(1) because there is diversity of residence of the named parties and this action is related
to Lehnert, et al. v. Town Sports International, LLC, et al., No. 18-cv-02705 over which this
court has jurisdiction pursuant to the Class Action Fairness Act, 28 U.S.C. § 1332(d).
16.

The Court has personal jurisdiction over Defendants because Defendants are

authorized to, and do, conduct business in New York and in this District.
17.

Venue is proper in this District pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b)(1) because a

substantial part of the events giving rise to this action occurred in this District.
18.

On May 9, 2018, three individuals served TSI with a demand pursuant to MGL

93A, and such letter was served on behalf of themselves and “all other similarly situated
persons.” The Second Amended Complaint in the Lehnert action reflected this at Paragraph 9.
This satisfied any administrative pre-requisite in this action as well. On April 2, 2019 and April
15, 2019, Plaintiffs Knorr and Mitchell sent Defendants a demand letter pursuant to MGL 93A,
further satisfying any administrative pre-requisite.
19.

Following the commencement of this action, Plaintiffs will deliver a copy of the

Complaint to the Connecticut Attorney General and Commissioner of Consumer Protection
pursuant to CUTPA § 42-110g(c).
20.

Plaintiffs’ claims are properly asserted together as a single consolidated action as

their claims arise from a similar nexus of facts and circumstances and will be established using
similar and overlapping evidence.

10
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PARTIES
21.

Plaintiff Chin Tuan is an adult resident of New York. Mr. Tuan became a member

of NYSC on or about July 29, 2018.
22.

Plaintiff Hannah Album is an adult resident of New York. Ms. Album became a

member of NYSC in or around 2014.
23.

Plaintiff Maya Braxton is an adult resident of Washington, D.C. Ms. Braxton

became a member of WSC on or about June 5, 2018.
24.

Plaintiff Monique Horton is an adult resident of New York. Ms. Horton became a

member of NYSC in or around 2018.
25.

Plaintiff Robert Knorr is an adult resident of Massachusetts. Mr. Knorr became a

member of BSC in or around 2010.
26.

Plaintiff Evelisse Luciano is an adult resident of New York. Ms. Luciano became

a member of NYSC in or around late 2015/early 2016.
27.

Plaintiff Ryan McCarthy is an adult resident of Stamford, Connecticut. Mr.

McCarthy became a member of NYSC in or around 2017.
28.

Plaintiff Sean Miller is an adult resident of New York. Mr. Miller became a

member of NYSC in or around 2012.
29.

Plaintiff Eva Mitchell is an adult resident of Massachusetts. Ms. Mitchell became

a member of BSC on or about September 1, 2018.
30.

Plaintiff Nicole Trudeau is an adult resident of New York. Ms. Trudeau became a

member of NYSC on or about October 14, 2018.
31.

Defendant Town Sports International, LLC is a limited liability company with its

primary business being the running and operating of gyms under the brands New York Sports

11
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Clubs, Boston Sports Clubs, Washington Sports Clubs and Philadelphia Sports Clubs, and which
is a wholly subsidiary of Town Sports International Holdings, Inc., a foreign corporation
incorporated in Delaware which has a principal place of business located at 1001 US North
Highway 1, Suite 201, Juniper, Florida 33477.
32.

Defendant Town Sports International Holdings, Inc. (for all purposes herein

included in the defined term “TSI”) is a foreign corporation incorporated in Delaware with its
primary business being the running and operating of gyms under the brands New York Sports
Clubs, Boston Sports Clubs, Washington Sports Clubs and Philadelphia Sports Clubs, and which
has a principal place of business located at 1001 US North Highway 1, Suite 201, Juniper,
Florida 33477.
FACTS
Factual Allegations
33.

Town Sports International, LLC is one of the largest owners/operators of fitness

clubs in the country, with approximately 145 gyms located in New York, Massachusetts,
Washington D.C., Pennsylvania, Connecticut, Maryland, New Jersey, Rhode Island and Virginia.
34.

Among other properties and brands, TSI owns and operates approximately 98

gyms under the brand “New York Sports Clubs,” 33 gyms under the brand “Boston Sports
Clubs,” 10 gyms under the brand “Washington Sports Clubs” and five gyms under the brand
“Philadelphia Sports Clubs.” Certain of these gym locations are in the neighboring states of
Connecticut, Maryland, New Jersey, Rhode Island and Virginia.
35.

TSI requires consumers to become a TSI gym member (“TSI Gym Member”) in

order to gain access to use its gym locations. In order to obtain a TSI gym membership,

12
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customers enter into agreements whereby they agree to pay a sum of money in exchange for
access to one or more TSI gym locations.
36.

However, TSI holds customers to additional terms never agreed upon. For

instance, when potential customers go to a TSI location to become a member, generally TSI does
not present them with written contracts to sign in order to become a TSI Gym Member, or at
least only does so very rarely or in atypical situations.
37.

As a matter of practice, TSI staff will verbally present to potential customers the

monthly rate for the type of gym access the customer is interested in purchasing. Then, potential
customers become members pursuant to the terms verbally presented to them by either verbally
assenting to the terms or by signing an electronic pad presented to them by a TSI staff member
(and providing a form of payment, usually a credit or debit card for automatic monthly charges).
38.

Once a customer signs the electronic pad, TSI has in its possession an electronic

image of the customer’s signature, which is saved to TSI’s electronic records database. Upon
information and belief, the electronic pads that capture customer signatures are created by Topaz
Systems, Inc., though TSI may also use other devices such as iPads.
39.

TSI will then superimpose a TSI Gym Member’s signature on a document

containing various terms and conditions for membership at TSI (“Fraudulent Membership
Contract”) and retain that document internally as a supposedly agreed-upon contract. TSI
unlawfully acts as though the Fraudulent Membership Contracts are legitimate agreements.
40.

However, TSI Gym Members are never informed of the vast majority of these

contractual terms, never informed that their signatures will be superimposed onto a contract and
never informed that there are any membership terms other than those verbally presented to them.

13
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41.

Upon information and belief, the reason TSI engages in these practices is that the

terms of the Fraudulent Membership Contracts are completely unreasonable and the company is
concerned that customers would not agree to the terms if actually presented to them, including
the term: “By signing this Agreement, the member grants the Clubs the right to use their
photographic likeness for promotional purposes, including, without limitation, for online usage
and marketing materials.”
42.

Many of TSI’s written membership contracts also contain the following or

substantially similar language with respect to cancellation of memberships:
You may cancel your Month-to-Month at any time by (1)
giving notice at the club and obtaining a cancellation
receipt, or (2) sending a written notification by certified or
registered mail to the club at the address set forth above.
Your cancellation will be effective 45 days after you
provide proper notice of cancellation, and you will
continue to have the services provided under this
agreement and be billed accordingly until the end of the
45 day notice period.
(emphasis added).
43.

In sum, according to this provision, TSI Gym Members must pay for an additional

45 days of membership once they inform TSI that they desire to cancel their memberships.
44.

Moreover, according to this provision, to cancel a membership, TSI Gym

Members must obtain a “cancellation receipt” or send TSI “a written notification by certified or
registered mail.”
45.

TSI attempts to hold TSI Gym Members who try to cancel their TSI gym

memberships to these supposed “policies” or “contract terms” – whether TSI has a Fraudulent
Membership Contract on file or not.

14
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46.

Moreover, TSI often does not even honor customer cancellation requests in the

first place and continues to charge TSI Gym Members with additional membership and other
fees even long after they have cancelled their memberships.
47.

Accordingly, TSI Gym Members never authorized TSI to charge their credit or

debit cards for any charges following notice of cancellation.
48.

Moreover, upon information and belief, TSI has refused to honor TSI Gym

Members’ attempts to cancel their memberships either because TSI has taken the position that
the TSI Gym Member failed to comply with the technicalities of purported policies or terms
related to the cancellation of his or her TSI membership or because TSI has otherwise simply
refused to process a TSI Gym Member’s request for cancellation.
49.

In those situations, upon information and belief, TSI Gym Members are

continually charged membership dues even though the TSI Gym Members attempted to cancel
their TSI gym memberships.
Plaintiff Chin Tuan
50.

On or about July 29, 2018, Plaintiff Chin Tuan enrolled to become a trial member

of the Forest Hills location of NYSC. Mr. Tuan was told the membership rate would be $26.99
per month. Mr. Tuan was told by a sales consultant, Stephen Kissi, that he could cancel his
membership at any time, and that he would get all his money back if he cancelled within 10 days.
51.

On August 1, 2018, Mr. Tuan was charged a $26.99 monthly membership fee (and

on July 29, 2018 he was also strangely charged an additional fee of $3.61).
52.

Within the next 10 days, Mr. Tuan decided to cancel his membership because the

gym did not come close to the quality and cleanliness that he expected as a customer. Mr. Tuan
told the NYSC employee behind the entry desk that he wanted to cancel his membership.

15
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53.

The employee told Mr. Tuan he had to fill out a cancellation form, which he did

on the spot. Mr. Tuan was then told there was nothing else he had to do and that his membership
would be cancelled effective immediately.
54.

Despite having cancelled his membership, TSI never refunded Mr. Tuan’s initial

charge and then continued to charge him fees. On or about August 15, 2018, TSI charged a
$59.99 annual membership fee to Mr. Tuan’s credit card. Mr. Tuan never authorized this charge,
as he cancelled his membership the previous day.
55.

Then, on or about September 1, 2018, TSI charged Mr. Tuan again – this time a

monthly membership charge for $26.99. Mr. Tuan never authorized this charge either.
56.

Upon reviewing his credit card statement, Mr. Tuan noticed these unauthorized

charges and contacted the Forest Hills NYSC location. Mr. Tuan spoke to an employee,
complained about these charges and stated that he wanted to cancel his account and get a refund.
Mr. Tuan was told he had to speak to a manager and that a general manager was not available
each time he called. Several calls to the Forest Hills location proved useless in attempting to
reach the manager, and Mr. Tuan never received a return call.
57.

On or about September 7, 2018, Mr. Tuan went back to the Forest Hills location to

attempt to resolve this matter in-person given the troubles he had had reaching anyone who could
help over the phone. However, Mr. Tuan was told he needed to speak to a manager and that no
manager was present at that time.
58.

On October 1, 2018, Mr. Tuan emailed Mr. Kissi and stated that he had called the

Forest Hills location several times attempting to resolve this issue and had left several messages
that had not been returned. Mr. Tuan stated:

16
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I was billed 8/01 and 9/01 for the monthly charge of $26.99 and
$59.99 on 9/15 for the annual fee. I had requested for a
termination of my account multiple times.
However, Mr. Kissi never responded to Mr. Tuan’s inquiry.
59.

Also on October 1, 2018, TSI again charged Mr. Tuan another monthly

membership fee of $26.99. Mr. Tuan never authorized this charge.
60.

Mr. Tuan was eventually able to get the Forest Hills location’s General Manager,

Jeffry Cajas, on the phone. Mr. Cajas told Mr. Tuan that he would look through a “pile of
cancellation papers” to see if Mr. Tuan’s was there and get back to him.
61.

Mr. Cajas did not get back to Mr. Tuan. Thereafter, Mr. Tuan emailed Mr. Cajas

to follow up on the status given that he seemed to be continually ignored. Mr. Tuan stated:
Jeffrey,
I’m not sure if you guys are too busy or that there’s a tendency at
your sports club to not respond to a customers inquiry but can you
please provide an update to my case? You said that you were
going to look through the pile of cancellation and see if mine was
there. We’re you able to locate it? I would like to know asap if I
will be receiving my money back or I have to take alternate routes
such as small claims cause the service here is truly unacceptable.
62.

To this email, Mr. Cajas finally responded. However, Mr. Cajas simply stated “I

was unable to find any cancellation form of yours,” and that “[a]s of right now know [sic] refund
will be processed unless there is proof of cancel.” Of course, the TSI employee with whom Mr.
Tuan had cancelled never provided him with any paperwork confirming his cancellation.
63.

In total, due to its deceptive practices, TSI stole from Mr. Tuan approximately

$120 and forced Mr. Tuan to ensure significant time and effort to (unsuccessfully) resolve these
issues. To date, no refund has been issued to Mr. Tuan.
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64.

Despite the fact that Mr. Tuan paid these unauthorized charges after he attempted

to cancel his membership, he has been receiving telephone calls from Radius Global Solutions, a
collections agency, to collect some supposed additional outstanding debts.
Plaintiff Hannah Album
65.

Plaintiff Hannah Album became a TSI Gym Member in or around 2014.

66.

Ms. Album met with a TSI sales representative at a NYSC gym located on 28-30

Avenue A, New York, NY 10009.
67.

The TSI sales representative told Ms. Album that she would be charged a monthly

fee for her membership but that she could cancel her membership at any time.
68.

Ms. Album was not told she needed to cancel in any particularly prescribed

manner or her cancellation would be ineffective.
69.

In or about November 2017, Ms. Album called the Avenue A location and notified

a TSI agent that she was cancelling her membership. The TSI agent told Ms. Album that she
could not cancel her membership over the phone and needed to visit the Avenue A location in
person to cancel.
70.

Over the next few weeks, Ms. Album visited the Avenue A location several times

and asked to speak with a manager, but Ms. Album was told each time that a manager was not
available to speak with her.
71.

Subsequently, Ms. Album visited a NYSC location in Brooklyn and notified a TSI

agent that she was cancelling her membership. However, the TSI agent told Ms. Album that she
could not cancel her membership at the Brooklyn location and that she needed to visit her “home
gym” to cancel.

18
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72.

Ms. Album then called TSI’s corporate offices and informed a TSI representative

that she was cancelling her membership. The TSI representative told Ms. Album that she could
not cancel her membership by contacting the corporate office and that she needed to visit her
home gym to cancel.
73.

TSI continued to charge Ms. Album additional fees after she first provided notice

of cancellation, and Ms. Album never agreed to or authorized these charges.
Plaintiff Maya Braxton
74.

On or about June 5, 2018, Plaintiff Maya Braxton enrolled to become a WSC

member at the Columbia Heights location. WSC advertised that customers, such as Ms. Braxton,
could join for $1.00 and receive two months of free membership.
75.

Ms. Braxton was also told she could cancel her membership at any time without

penalty, and that there would be no charges at all if she cancelled within 10 days.
76.

Despite the advertisement of $1.00 for two free months of membership, Ms.

Braxton initially paid $30.67 to join the Columbia Heights location.
77.

Within a few days, Ms. Braxton called the Columbia Heights gym and stated that

she was cancelling her membership because she found a better gym. The TSI employee with
whom Ms. Braxton spoke assured her that her account was closed and that she would receive a
refund for all charges.
78.

However, Ms. Braxton did not receive a cancellation confirmation. Ms. Braxton

did receive, on June 19, 2018, an email from WSC saying “We Want You Back. Rejoin And Get
An Exclusive Offer.” As such, Ms. Braxton assumed her cancellation had been processed as
promised by the TSI employee.
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79.

On July 16, 2018, despite having cancelled her membership, Ms. Braxton

received another charge from WSC, this time for $74.01. Ms. Braxton called the Columbia
Heights location to ask for a refund for the $74.01 charge as well as for the $30.67 that had never
been refunded.
80.

The TSI employee with whom Ms. Braxton spoke said he was unable to issue a

refund as it could only be done by a manager.
81.

Ms. Braxton left her contact information and was told that a manager would call

her back.
82.

After not receiving a call for several days, Ms. Braxton called the Columbia

Heights location yet again and talked to another TSI associate.
83.

This associate told Ms. Braxton that there was no record of her having submitted

a cancellation request, and that the only way she could get a refund would be if they could
confirm her story with the associate who Ms. Braxton spoke to when she said she wanted to
cancel her membership.
84.

Ms. Braxton explained that she received an email to “rejoin” after cancelling

which was proof that she had cancelled, but the associate said that Ms. Braxton would have to
speak to a manager to resolve the issue. The TSI associate further informed Ms. Braxton that
there were no managers available to speak with her.
85.

Ms. Braxton called the Columbia Heights location again and left another message

with the manager, but she never received any response. After not hearing from WSC for another
week, Ms. Braxton called yet again and asked a TSI associate to speak to a manager. The TSI
associate put Ms. Braxton on hold and came back a few minutes later to inform her that the
manager was not available.
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86.

On or about July 31, 2018 and August 2, 2018, Ms. Braxton received two separate

cancellation confirmations with the incorrect cancellation date and no refund. Ms. Braxton
called the Columbia Heights location and spoke to the general manager, who said that she was
too busy to process her request. The general manager informed Ms. Braxton that the sales
manager would call her back to address the situation.
87.

Ms. Braxton complained about this to the Better Business Bureau, and in response

TSI said that it had been trying to confirm that Ms. Braxton cancelled in June but had been
unable to do so. Of course, the reason TSI had been unable to confirm Ms. Braxton’s
cancellation is that TSI failed to process Ms. Braxton’s membership cancellation despite her
request, and refused to believe Ms. Braxton’s claim that she had cancelled.
88.

Even thereafter, in August 2018, TSI charged Ms. Braxton yet again for another

month of gym membership, despite the fact that she had not only cancelled months previously,
but also had been engaging in numerous additional communications and complaints to the BBB
to ensure that the cancellation was processed.
89.

Ms. Braxton cancelled her credit card to avoid any further charges.

90.

In total, TSI stole approximately $178.69 from Ms. Braxton.

Plaintiff Robert Knorr
91.

Plaintiff Robert Knorr has been a member of BSC since approximately 2010.

92.

Mr. Knorr was initially an “all-access” or “Passport” member, meaning he was

told he was permitted to use any TSI gym at any time. However, Mr. Knorr later changed his
membership to a single-location membership.
93.

In November 2018, Mr. Knorr sent an email request to TSI to cancel his

membership. Mr. Knorr was told via telephone that cancellation requests were “no longer
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accepted via email, letter, or over the phone” and he would have to cancel in person with a
manager.
94.

Thereafter, Mr. Knorr made several failed attempts to schedule a meeting with the

1 Beacon Street gym’s General Manager, Joel Bowen. Mr. Knorr was eventually able to meet
with Mr. Bowen in December 2018. Mr. Bowen completed the necessary cancellation
paperwork in his computer (or so he told Ms. Knorr) and subsequently (in December) informed
Mr. Knorr that his membership would be cancelled. Mr. Bowen did not provide Mr. Knorr with
any paperwork or tell him that he needed any proof of cancellation.
95.

During this meeting, Mr. Bowen attempted to convince Mr. Knorr not to cancel

his membership. Mr. Knorr agreed that before processing the cancellation, he would be
interested to see if Mr. Bowen could get him the same monthly membership rate at the BSC
located at 140 Great Plain Avenue in Wellesley. Mr. Bowen told Mr. Knorr that he would get
back to him shortly.
96.

Approximately one week later, Mr. Bowen called Mr. Knorr and (via telephone

message) informed him that the rate for the Wellesley location was higher than what he had been
paying for Beacon Hill. Accordingly, Mr. Knorr informed Mr. Bowen (via telephone message)
prior to December 14, 2018 that he should proceed with the cancellation as discussed during
their in-person meeting.
97.

Mr. Knorr received no other communication from Mr. Bowen other than asking

him to rejoin the club. These emails started on January 24th. In January 2019, Mr. Knorr
noticed another charge on his American Express credit card from BSC for $59.94. Mr. Knorr
called American Express to dispute the charges and to put a stop payment on his account for any
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additional charges from TSI. The dispute was rejected because TSI falsely informed American
Express that Mr. Knorr did not cancel his membership effectively until February 3, 2019.
98.

But, that was still not then end. On March 14, 2019, Mr. Bowen emailed Mr.

Knorr as stated as follows:
From: Joel.Bowen@bostonsportsclubs.com
To: mbknorr@verizon.net
Sent: Thu, Mar 14, 2019 12:53 pm
Subject: Past Due Balance
Hello Bob,
We are reaching out to you because currently your account is past
due. We have made multiple attempts to contact you in order to
update the billing status on file. After 90 days of past due balances
we will send your account information to the credit bureau. This
will deeply impact your credit score and future endeavors. . .
99.

The supposed “past due” amount referred to by Mr. Bowen was presumably the

membership dues for the period of February 1, 2019 through February 3, 2019, totalling
approximately $4.28.
100.

Of course, Mr. Knorr had been attempting to cancel his membership since

November 2018 and had already paid several additional charges after that date which he had not
authorized. Yet, TSI was threatening to impact his credit score if he did not accede to even more
unauthorized charges.
101.

Mr. Knorr responded, in part, by stating that:
I ask that you correct this error, since you and I met about my
cancellation prior to Dec 14th (not Jan 3rd) and I confirmed my
request to cancel via phone also prior to Dec 14th. This is true
because I left Boston on Dec 15th and was not available for any
communication until after January 3rd.
Please confirm in writing that the overdue amount was in error and
has been removed.
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102.

However, Mr. Knorr never received any response. The unauthorized charges have

never been removed or refunded. Upon information and belief, TSI has contacted a debt
collection agency to further harass Mr. Knorr and is attempting to lower his credit score.
Plaintiff Evelisse Luciano
103.

Plaintiff Evelisse Luciano became a TSI Gym Member in or around late

2015/early 2016 after agreeing to membership terms with a TSI agent at one of Defendants’
NYSC gyms located on 86th Street in Manhattan, New York.
104.

Ms. Luciano was told that she had a one-year contract and that after she had been

a member for a year she could cancel her membership at any time.
105.

Ms. Luciano was never told of any additional charges or fees she would be

obligated to pay after providing notice of cancellation.
106.

Ms. Luciano was instructed to sign an electronic pad in order to become a TSI

Gym Member and was never told that her signature would be superimposed onto any contract or
used for any purpose such as to say she agreed to any other terms.
107.

The electronic pad Ms. Luciano signed did not display any contract terms and

only contained a small area for Ms. Luciano to place her signature.
108.

Ms. Luciano never agreed, nor was she ever notified, that she had to pay for any

additional days of membership, or any other charges or fees, once she cancelled her TSI gym
membership.
109.

On January 12, 2019, Ms. Luciano visited 91st Street location and informed a TSI

employee that she wanted to cancel her membership. The TSI employee instructed Ms. Luciano
to sign a cancellation form, which she did. The TSI employee then informed Ms. Luciano that a
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general manager would contact her within 24 to 48 hours to discuss her cancellation. However,
Ms. Luciano was never contacted by any TSI employee.
110.

The following week, Ms. Luciano visited 91st Street location and informed a TSI

representative working at the front desk that she had cancelled her membership but was never
contacted by a General Manager as she was told she would be. The TSI representative
responded by providing Ms. Luciano with a phone number – (212) 987-7200 – for Marvin Perez,
a TSI guest services representative. Ms. Luciano called the guest services number several times
and left voice messages but never received a response.
111.

On January 23, 2019, Ms. Luciano posted a message on Twitter regarding her

efforts to cancel her gym membership. Ms. Luciano stated:
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112.

A TSI employee responded from the Twitter handle @NYSC and stated:

113.

On January 24, 2019, Ms. Luciano emailed heretohelp@tsiclubs.com and wrote:
Good Afternoon,
My name is Evelisse Luciano. My ID number is #3639253. I have
an elite membership. I have been trying to cancel my account. I
filled out the necessary form at my club on January 12. This form
states that I would be contacted by a manger within 24-48 hours. I
was not. I followed up in person a week later and was told no
manger was on duty but was provided with the name and number
of someone in the club’s guest services who could help me. I left
that person a voicemail since they did not answer and have not
heard back. It should not be this difficult to cancel a membership. I
have been trying now for weeks. This is unacceptable. Please
cancel my membership already.
If you’d like to know why I’m canceling, the closet location to me
on 91st and 3rd has outdated equipment and for an elite club, the
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studios are filthy. There are constant dust bunnies on the floor
every time I go to a class. It’s disgusting.
Please assist in cancelling my account. Thank you.
Best,
Evelisse
114.

Later that day, Gabe, a TSI employee, responded from the email account

heretohelp@tsiclubs.com and stated:
Hi Evie
We apologize for this.
I¹ve cc’ed the Business Manager on this email of our 91/3rd
location.
She will be able to assist you.
Best
Gabe
115.

On January 26, 2019, Ms. Luciano emailed Patricia Curran, a General Manager at

the 91st Street location, and stated:
Hello,
I have not yet heard back from anyone at NYSC regarding the
cancellation of my membership. Not a response to the prior email,
nor a call back from the messages I have left earlier this week, nor
have I gotten a call in response to the cancellation form I filled out
weeks ago, despite the form promising in writing a response from
management within 24-48 hours. I have been trying to cancel for
WEEKS now. The lack of communication from NYSC is
unacceptable and frankly ridiculous. Especially in light of the class
action suit against the club for this exact reason. You would think
that would be an issue you'd have addressed. I am cancelling my
membership. Someone from NYSC's management needs to
acknowledge the cancellation of my membership and get back to
me. The lack of action on this matter is highly unprofessional and
is a very poor reflection on the company as a whole. I ask that you
address this matter already as I have given NYSC more than
enough time to process my request.
Evelisse
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116.

On January 28, 2019, Ms. Luciano visited the 91st Street location and asked to

speak with Mr. Perez to confirm that her membership had been cancelled, but a TSI employee
informed Ms. Luciano that Mr. Perez had left for the day.
117.

On January 29, 2019, Ms. Luciano called the 91st Street location and stated that

she wanted to confirm that her membership was cancelled. However, a TSI employee responded
that Ms. Luciano could only cancel her membership in person with a general manager. Ms.
Luciano then explained that she had visited the 91st location in person several times, but a
General Manager was never available. The TSI employee then placed the call with Ms. Luciano
on hold, and when the TSI employee returned to the call, Ms. Luciano was informed that her
membership would be cancelled.
118.

Later that day, Ms. Curran responded to Ms. Luciano’s January 26, 2019 email

and stated:
Hi Evelissa,
I just looked into your account and see that your cancellation
request was submitted by Jalessa. I apologize if this has been a
frustrating process as it shouldn't be for you.
Please let me know if there is anything else I can do for you.
Best,
Patricia Curran| Business Manager
Town Sports International
e: patricia.curran@tsiclubs.com
NASDAQ:CLUB
Download our SportsClubs app here: App Store | Google Play
119.

However, TSI continued to charge Ms. Luciano additional fees after she first

provided notice of cancellation, and Ms. Luciano never agreed to or authorized these charges.

28

Case 1:19-cv-02812-MKB-RLM Document 1 Filed 05/13/19 Page 29 of 49 PageID #: 29

Plaintiff Ryan McCarthy
120.

Plaintiff Ryan McCarthy joined NYSC in or around 2017. Mr. McCarthy was a

member of the NYSC gym in Stamford, Connecticut located at 106 Commerce Road.
121.

Mr. McCarthy enrolled in-person through a salesperson. Mr. McCarthy was told

that he could cancel at any time and that it was “easy to cancel” as all he had to was “just tell
someone.” This was a deceptive, false and misleading representation.
122.

Mr. McCarthy was never told he was required to follow any other particular

procedure or practice for a cancellation request to be effective. This was a deceptive, false and
misleading omission.
123.

Mr. McCarthy was instructed to sign an electronic pad in order to become a TSI

Gym Member and was never told that his signature would be superimposed onto any contract or
used for any purpose such as to say he agreed to any other terms. The electronic pad Mr.
McCarthy signed did not display any contract terms and only contained a small area for a
signature. TSI never provided Mr. McCarthy with any purported written membership contract.
This was a deceptive, false and misleading practice.
124.

In or around April/May 2018, Mr. McCarthy hurt his back. Mr. McCarthy called

his NYSC location and informed a TSI employee that he wanted to cancel his membership as
well as his personal training sessions. Mr. McCarthy was told he could not cancel his
membership and he could only put his membership on “hold” while he was injured. This was a
deceptive, false and misleading practice.
125.

Having no choice, Mr. McCarthy told the employee to put his membership on

“hold” so that he would not be not charged while he was unable to use the gym. Thereafter, Mr.
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McCarthy noticed that TSI was continuing to charge him, both for membership dues and for
personal training. Mr. McCarthy never authorized these charges.
126.

To the contrary, Mr. McCarthy had attempted to cancel his membership to avoid

these charges and was told he could not. As a result, Mr. McCarthy made numerous phone calls
to the Stamford NYSC location repeatedly asking for his membership to be cancelled and
received the same repeated response that someone would “get back to him,” but no one ever did.
127.

Despite these efforts, Mr. McCarthy continued to be charged unauthorized fees to

his American Express credit card. As such, Mr. McCarthy contacted American Express and put
a stop payment on any additional charges from TSI. TSI continued to charge Mr. McCarthy, but
TSI was not paid for these charges.
128.

On December 31, 2018, Mr. McCarthy received an email from Steve Hendry, the

Fitness Manager at the Stamford NYSC, stating that the “freeze” on his membership ended on
October 18, 2018 and that his account had been charged from that date going forward. Mr.
Hendry also informed Mr. McCarthy that in two days, on January 2, 2019, his account would be
“sent to a collections agency.” In early January, Mr. McCarthy responded:
I have tried to cancel this membership numerous times with no
success. Every time someone says they will call me back and I
never get one. I had to take matters into my own hands and alert
my Credit card company to NOT allow any charges from NYSC
for this EXACT reason. Please give me a call to discuss this
further so I can close this out[.]
129.

Mr. Hendry responded by asking whether Mr. McCarthy had any “proof” of

cancellation, and Mr. McCarthy informed him that he had cancelled via phone several times and
that additional proof corroborating this was the fact that he had not been to visit the NYSC in a
very long time.
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130.

On or about February 20, 2019, Mr. McCarthy received an email from Gary

Carver, a Customer Service Manager at the Stamford gym, which copied Karen Catuogno, the
gym’s General Manager. The email recognized that Mr. McCarthy had cancelled his
membership and offered a special promotion deal for him to re-join. Mr. McCarthy responded:
Thanks for the e-mail - I just want to make sure I am cancelled in
all aspects of NYSC - can you please confirm this? Thanks again 131.

On or about February 20, 2019, Mr. Hendry again threatened Mr. McCarthy that

he had a past due balance of $1,697.56 and if he did not pay the amount it would be sent to
collections. Mr. McCarthy responded (copying Ms. Catuogno) as follows:
This is the exact thing I have been trying to address with someone
@ the club and I NEVER hear back - If someone can please call
me regarding this that would be great [].
At no time once I tried to cancel originally should my account been
taken off "a hold" or not cancelled - ESP no training sessions
should have been charged since I was NOT ABLE to train and my
trainer Malik was aware of this.
So if you can please call me back to go over all this that will be
great - if I do not hear from anyone by EOD tomorrow I will stop
in @ the club to try and talk in person.
132.

Mr. Hendry simply stated that it was “unfortunate” but that TSI “can’t do

anything” because Mr. McCarthy did not have written proof of cancellation. Mr. McCarthy
responded by offering to pay “something” due to the threat that TSI would send his account to
collections and hurt his credit score.
133.

Ultimately, TSI refused to release Mr. McCarthy from any of these fraudulent

payment obligations. Despite the fact that Mr. McCarthy had tried to cancel his membership
numerous times over the phone and had not used the gym in many months (establishing further
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that he had been attempting to cancel), Mr. Hendry informed him that after speaking to his
supervisor there was “no wiggle room on the amount owed.”
134.

On or about February 27, 2019, Mr. McCarthy made a first installment payment

of $504.84 on the fraudulent charges which he should not have needed to pay in the first place.
Mr. McCarthy informed Mr. Hendry that the payment was made. Incredibly, Mr. Hendry
responded as follows: “Thanks for letting me know. And the only charges that will occur going
forward would be for your general membership.”
135.

Naturally, Mr. McCarthy was livid that TSI still refused to cancel his membership

and was planning to still charge him “going forward.” Mr. McCarthy responded:
I was told that was cancelled and I would not be charged
ANYTHING in addition. I do not want a general membership can you please confirm that EVERYTHING is closed out.
136.

On or about February 28, 2019, Mr. McCarthy and Mr. Hendy spoke over the

phone and Mr. Hendry confirmed to Mr. McCarthy that he would not be charged anything else at
all going forward. This too would turn out to be a lie.
137.

On March 1, 2019, TSI charged Mr. McCarthy two additional charges – $53.16

and $15.00. Mr. McCarthy immediately emailed Mr. Hendry:
Per our conversation this week I was told my membership would
be cancelled and I did not have to worry about getting charged
anything else.
Today @ 6:20pm I was charged
- $53.16 for I do not know what
- $15.00 for I do not know what
I am really unsure why I am still getting charged since you assured
me this would not happen and my membership with you guys
would be terminated ASAP.
Can you please get back to me and let me know when you can
rectify this? I have tried to be patient here but it just seems this
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continues to be an issue - Please get back to me as soon as
possible.
138.

Mr. Hendry stated that he would “look into this today and find out what went

wrong.” But, Mr. Hendry did not “look into this today” and two days passed without any
communication. When Mr. Hendry finally did respond, he only stated that he was “still waiting
to hear back from my corporate offices.” Again, several days passed without any update.
139.

On March 11, 2019, Mr. McCarthy followed up again asking whether he would

get reimbursed for the unauthorized charges. Mr. Hendry finally responded that somehow these
charges were for a “previous month of general membership and a late fee,” a dubious
explanation that was more likely trying to cover for TSI’s continued mistakes.
140.

To date, Mr. McCarthy has paid substantial amounts that he never authorized, and

TSI continues to threaten to send Mr. McCarthy to a collections agency and harm his credit score
if he refuses to pay amounts that never should have been charged to him if TSI had simply
honored his cancellation requests.
Plaintiffs Sean Miller and Monique Horton
141.

Plaintiff Sean Miller became a TSI Gym Member in 2012 after meeting with a

TSI sales representative at a NYSC gym located at 2527 Broadway, New York, New York
11211.
142.

In 2018, Mr. Miller enrolled his wife, Monique Horton, to become a TSI Gym

Member after meeting with a TSI sales representative at a NYSC gym located at 833-835
Franklin Avenue, Garden City, New York 11530. The TSI representative informed Mr. Miller
that Ms. Horton would be added to his account and that any charges regarding Ms. Horton’s
membership would be made to his credit card.
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143.

At the time of his enrollment and the enrollment of Mr. Horton, Mr. Miller was

informed by TSI sales representatives that he and Ms. Horton would be able to cancel their
memberships at any time.
144.

Mr. Miller was not told that he or Ms. Horton needed to cancel in any particularly

prescribed manner or their cancellations would be ineffective.
145.

Mr. Miller was not told about any additional charges or fees that would be due or

owed at the time of cancellation or thereafter.
146.

In 2012, Mr. Miller was told to sign an electronic pad to complete his membership

enrollment. The electronic pad did not contain any terms or conditions and only had a small
space for Mr. Miller to place his signature. Mr. Miller was not instructed to sign an electronic
pad when he enrolled Ms. Horton.
147.

Mr. Miller was never told, nor did he ever agree, that TSI could capture his

signature and place it on a contract or any other document.
148.

In or about January 2019, Mr. Miller called the Garden City location and told a

TSI employee that he was cancelling his and Ms. Horton’s memberships. The TSI employee
responded that Mr. Miller could not cancel over the phone and that he needed to visit the gym in
person to cancel.
149.

Later that day, Mr. Miller visited the Garden City location and told a General

Manager, Peter Karikas, that he was cancelling his and Ms. Horton’s memberships. Mr. Karikas
instructed Mr. Miller to complete a cancellation form and stated that their memberships would be
cancelled in 45 days.
150.

In or around February 2019, Mr. Miller noticed that TSI was continuing to charge

his credit card even though he had cancelled his and Ms. Horton’s memberships.
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151.

On February 1, 2019, Mr. Miller sent an email to Mr. Karikas regarding charges

made to his credit card after he provided notice of cancellation. Mr. Karikas responded to Mr.
Miller that his and Ms. Horton’s memberships were subject to a supposed “cancellation notice”
period and that the charges made to his credit card were correct.
152.

Subsequently, TSI continued to charge Mr. Miller’s credit card without his

authorization.
153.

In or around late April 2019, Mr. Miller called the Garden City location regarding

the unauthorized charges made to his credit card and spoke with a TSI representative. The TSI
representative told Mr. Miller that a general manager would contact him regarding the
unauthorized charges.
154.

On April 26, 2019, Fanny Santamaria, a TSI General Manager, sent Mr. Miller an

email stating that she would look into his complaint and would call him on Sunday, April 28,
2019.
155.

On April 28, 2019, Ms. Santamaria called Mr. Miller and explained that she

contacted TSI’s corporate office regarding the unauthorized charges made to his credit card.
Ms. Santamaria stated that she would contact Mr. Miller after the TSI’s corporate office
responded.
156.

Over the next few days, Mr. Miller contacted Ms. Santamaria several times

regarding the unauthorized charges, but Ms. Santamaria claimed that TSI’s corporate office had
not responded to her regarding Mr. Miller’s complaint.
Plaintiff Eva Mitchell
157.

Plaintiff Eva Mitchell became a TSI member on or about September 1, 2018.

158.

Ms. Mitchell enrolled at the BSC location in Government Center.
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159.

When she enrolled, Ms. Mitchell met with a TSI representative who informed her

of the membership rate for her access to use the gym facilities.
160.

Ms. Mitchell was told she could cancel her membership at any time.

161.

Ms. Mitchell was not told that there would be any particular process or procedure

she had to follow in order to cancel her membership.
162.

Ms. Mitchell was not told about any additional charges or fees that would be due

or owed when she cancelled her membership or after she cancelled her membership.
163.

Ms. Mitchell was told to sign an electronic pad to complete her membership

enrollment. The electronic pad did not contain any terms or conditions and only had a small
space for Ms. Mitchell to place her signature.
164.

Ms. Mitchell was never told, nor did she ever agree, that TSI could capture her

signature and place it on a contract or any other document.
165.

In early October 2018, Ms. Mitchell called her TSI location and informed the TSI

representative that she wanted to cancel her membership, and she was told she needed to be at
the gym in person to cancel her membership.
166.

Ms. Mitchell then went to the Government Center TSI location and was told that

she needed to speak to a manager if she wanted to cancel her membership, but there was no
manager present and she left.
167.

Ms. Mitchell then called the Government Center TSI location to find out when a

manager would be present. The TSI employee informed Ms. Mitchell that someone would call
her back to provide the dates and times.
168.

However, no one from TSI called Ms. Mitchell to provide this information. Ms.

Mitchell went back to the Government Center TSI location several times, hoping that a manager
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would be available to process her cancellation, but was repeatedly told there was no manager
available to assist with her cancellation.
169.

Eventually, Ms. Mitchell went back to the Government Center TSI location and

ended up having a horrific experience in which a TSI employee not only refused to cancel her
membership, but also insulted and degraded her. Ms. Mitchell told a front desk employee that
she needed to cancel her membership whether a manager was present or not because she was
going on vacation and would be unable to return for some time. The TSI employee said the
reason a manager needed to handle the cancellation request was because his manager had said
she liked to try to convince people who want to cancel their memberships not to cancel.
170.

Ms. Mitchell protested to this TSI employee that she had a right to cancel her

membership, but the TSI employee would not help. Ms. Mitchell asked for the manager’s
contact information, but the TSI employee would not help with that request either. Ms. Mitchell
asked for his name, but he refused that request as well. The TSI employee handling Ms.
Mitchell’s request then proceeded to mock her because of her frustration and also disparaged her
because of her age. Ms. Mitchell located the manager’s card on the front desk, took one and left.
171.

On November 6, 2018, Ms. Mitchell then emailed the Government Center TSI

location’s manager, Jessica Baxter, complained about the entire exchange and requested that her
membership be cancelled. Ms. Mitchell’s email is verbatim as follows:
Ms. Baxter,
I came in tonight to cancel my membership and locker. I write to
ask you to fill my request, and also inform you of the way he
represented you and the BSC.
The man at the front desk told me only a manager could cancel, so
I told him to please do what he could to help me since I was going
out of town and would not be able to come in person soon.

37

Case 1:19-cv-02812-MKB-RLM Document 1 Filed 05/13/19 Page 38 of 49 PageID #: 38

He told me I had no choice but to come back, and that the reason
was the manager wants to try to convince customers not to cancel,
therefore not authorizing front desk staff. He talked about it as if it
was funny. I saw nothing funny about having my cancellation
delayed so I could be “convinced” otherwise.
So, I asked for his name and the name of the manager so I could
work this out. Somehow he seemed to be offended by my wanting
to contact you directly, as he “was noting the system.” He did not
give me an idea how long this might take, and indicated I would
have to return during your office hours. I asked about other options
but he kept repeating he could not cancel and why. I understood
that but needed an option to make sure I was able to communicate
in a timely fashion.
I did not understand why he refused his name or your information
when asked. He seemed to take offense and began insulting me. He
mocked me, mimicked my voice, called me an “elder”,
condescended with sarcasm “well soooo sorrry about your vacation
but you have to understand how the manager will try to convince
you to stay. I noted the system. You don’t need my name or hers.”
He made faces at me and guffawed when I said “please don’t speak
to me like that.”
I went to get the things from my locker and came back up. That’s
when I noticed your cards on the front desk, which I took, resulting
in him hurling more insults at me. His colleague arrived as I
reached my tipping point. I asked him for the name of that man at
the front desk. He refused to provide the name of his scoffing
colleague, saying he was just a trainer. Although the front desk
man continued to be disrespectful he toned down considerably (but
still compared me to his mom, and joked that “Halloween is over”
when I told him I was horrified by his behavior). I told him to
please never speak to me again should I return to the club and I
don’t wish to be treated so rudely. He continued to talk to me,
mocking me as I gathered my belongings (many bags from
shopping) “well do you have alllll your things? Have a
(sarcastically) niiiiiice day,” etc. As I left I saw him trying to
engage a customer pointing at me and laughing. Although the
customer ignored him, and so did his colleague, I was humiliated
by his attitude. I said to both of them after that, I will mention to
my friends referred how BSC treats customers. He laughed harder.
Obviously I would like to cancel my membership to BSC. I was
thinking about joining a more convenient location, but I have never
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had any experience like this and worry about the expectations for
BSC staff after this awful experience.
Could you please cancel my membership and locker?
Also, might you provide me information for the corporate
headquarters? I may be reached at 617-990-2028, but I may not be
able to be reached while traveling.
Thank you for your follow-up,
Eva Mitchell
172.

Ms. Baxter responded only by leaving Ms. Mitchell a voicemail to call her back.

Ms. Mitchell responded to Ms. Baster as follows:
Jessica,
Please provide a written response to my email above dated
November 6, almost 2 weeks ago.
I received a voicemail from you as a follow-up to my email and
visit to your office, but as we discussed, I was leaving the country
and need a written response. I am asking again for your response in
writing.
No one has provided a written response yet on the membership
cancellation, and restoral of fees for the two months since I
initially asked for a membership cancellation in person and via
phone in early October.
Meanwhile I have made multiple attempts to cancel my unused
membership with multiple office visits, phone calls, and this email-and ask please for a written response.
Please send me a response and also provide contact information for
the corporate office as previously requested.
Eva
173.

TSI never responded to this email. While TSI does seem to have stopped

charging Ms. Mitchell recurring membership fees, it has still not refunded her the additional
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charges that continued after she first provided notification that she wanted to cancel her
membership.
Plaintiff Nicole Trudeau
174.

Plaintiff Nicole Trudeau became a TSI Gym Member on or around October 14,

2018 after meeting with a TSI sales representative at a NYSC gym located on 502 Park Avenue,
New York, New York 10022.
175.

The TSI sales representative told Ms. Trudeau that she would be charged a

monthly fee for her membership, but that she could cancel her membership at any time. The TSI
representative also informed Ms. Trudeau that she had a 10-day trial period where she would be
able to cancel her membership without being subjected to any fees.
176.

Ms. Trudeau was not told she needed to cancel in any particularly prescribed

manner or her cancellation would be ineffective.
177.

Ms. Trudeau was not told about any additional charges or fees that would be due

or owed when she cancelled her membership or after she cancelled her membership.
178.

Ms. Trudeau was told to sign an electronic pad to complete her membership

enrollment. The electronic pad did not contain any terms or conditions and only had a small
space for Ms. Trudeau to place her signature.
179.

Ms. Trudeau was never told, nor did she ever agree, that TSI could capture her

signature and place it on a contract or any other document.
180.

In or about October 2018, Ms. Trudeau learned that she would be moving for

work and, as a result, she would not be able to utilize her membership.
181.

Within 10 days of becoming a TSI Gym Member, Ms. Trudeau called the Park

Avenue location and informed a TSI representative that she was cancelling her membership. The
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TSI representative responded that he would cancel her membership and stated that she was still
within TSI’s trial period so she would not incur any charges related to her cancellation.
182.

Subsequently, Ms. Trudeau visited the Park Avenue location to confirm her

cancellation. While at the Park Avenue location, a TSI representative had Ms. Trudeau sign
paperwork related to her cancellation. The TSI representative also stated to Ms. Trudeau that her
membership was cancelled and that she would not be charged any fees.
183.

In or around late January 2019, Ms. Trudeau noticed that TSI was continuing to

charge her even though she had cancelled her membership.
184.

On February 4, 2019, Ms. Trudeau emailed Robert Ciaccio, a TSI General

Manager, to complain about TSI’s continued charges. Specifically, Ms. Trudeau stated:
Dear Mr. Robert Ciaccio,
I hope this finds you well.
I am contacting you in regards to a membership which was
cancelled at the end of October of 2018. In October I joined the
NYSC located at the corder [sic] of 59/Park Avenue. A few days
after joining, I changed my accommodation and moved quite far
from your location. Upon learning that I was moving, I contacted
your club via telephone which informed me that I was still within
the allotted cancellation period (7 or 10 days) and should not incur
any charges. I appeared at the club [within the allotted period]
toward mid to late October to confirm my cancellation in person
and sign paperwork. Although I do not remember the exact date, it
was a day where they were giving free promotional massages near
the entrance. Again I was told that my membership was cancelled
and no fee would be incurred. At that time, I was assisted by two
individuals. One was named Lex and another, much shorter, whose
name I do not have. Last week, while I was reviewing my bank
account statements for tax purposes, I was shocked to see
continuing charges from your facility.
I realize that this error on your facility's part occurred some months
ago, however, I expect that you can remedy the situation. I thank
you kindly for your attention and anticipated assistance with this
matter.
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Regards,
Nicole Trudeau
185.

However, Mr. Ciaccio did not respond to Ms. Trudeau’s email.

186.

On February 5, 2019, Ms. Trudeau again emailed Mr. Ciaccio and stated:
Dear Mr. Robert Ciaccio,
Following my email and phone call yesterday, which is included
below, my card had two additional charges from your facility. One
was once again a $89.99 membership fee and another was a $10.00
cancellation fee, simultaneously sent. As evidenced in my credit
card statement, I have incurred $439.95 in fraudulent charges. I am
requesting that I be refunded immediately. Here you can find a list
of unauthorized charges listed on my account:
02/04/2019 NYSCEAST 59TH 2123081010 /NY PURCHASE
-$10.00
02/04/2019 NYSCEAST 59TH 2123081010 /NY US CARD
PURCHASE $ -89.99
01/02/2019 NYSCEAST 59TH 2123081010 /NY US CARD
PURCHASE $ -89.99
12/03/2018 NYSCEAST 59TH 2123081010 /NY US CARD
PURCHASE $ -89.99
11/21/2018 NYSCEAST 59TH 2123081010 /NY US CARD
PURCHASE $ -69.99
11/02/2018 NYSCEAST 59TH 2123081010 /NY US CARD
PURCHASE $ -89.99
I look forward to your prompt resolution of this matter.
Regards,
Nicole Trudeau

187.

Ms. Trudeau also forwarded this email to memberservices@tsiclubs.com and

HereToHelp@tsiclubs.com.
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188.

Later that day, Mr. Ciaccio responded to Ms. Trudeau and said “Can you check

your email for a cancel confirmation to make sure that there was not a mistake on our end? It
would have been sent within 72 hours of your cancellation.” However, Ms. Trudeau responded
to Mr. Ciaccio that she had not received an email from TSI related to her cancellation.
189.

Mr. Ciaccio then accused Ms. Trudeau of using the TSI gym location after her 10-

day trial period had expired. Specifically, Mr. Ciaccio stated:
Nicole,
You used the gym on 10/30/2018. This was 16 days after your
original sign up date (10/14/2018) which would put you outside of
the 10 day money back guarantee window. Unless you have a
cancel receipt or some sort of proof that you attempted to put in
your cancel in October, all I will be able to do for you is put in
your cancellation as of your original email to me.
Robert Ciaccio | General Manager
New York Sports Clubs
502 Park Avenue
New York, NY 10022
p:(212)308-1010
e:Robert.Ciaccio@tsiclubs.com
Download our SportsClubs app here: App Store | Google Play
190.

Ms. Trudeau responded:
Hello,
I did not use the gym on the 30th of October. Pease show me proof
of such. And as I told you, I cancelled it with your associate Lex on
the same day in October when you had free massages in your
entrance. Please schedule an appointment with him, I and yourself
to discuss this in person this week.
Thank you,
Nicole Trudeau

191.

Ms. Trudeau also sent an email to Wayne Richards, a TSI employee, stating:
Dear Mr. Richards,
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I am contacting you in regards to one of the NYSC gyms which
you manage located at 59/Park. I was in correspondence with your
colleague, Robert Ciaccio, this week about an account issue, as
well as with associates at the TSI corporate offices. I have been
recommended to discuss my account issue with you.
To summarize, I signed up for a gym membership in October.
Following this, I quickly learned that I would not remain in the
housing location and cancelled my membership within the allotted
cancellation time, in person, with an associate at your gym named
Lex. This was in October, I was told that I would be all set without
further fees. Due to my work at the UN, I have been in and out of
missions since that time in war zones and other humanitarian crisis
areas. I came back to New York last week and reviewed some
documentation for tax purposes to find that I had been
continuously billed by your company following my cancellation.
Between the dates that I cancelled until now I have been charged
$439.95, the last charge being yesterday. After calling your gym
twice (Friday the 1st and Monday the 4th), I began emailing your
colleague, Robert Ciaccio. Robert has been unwilling to further
look into this issue past the fact that he does not have the
cancellation marked in his system.
I would kindly ask that you facilitate resolution of this matter.
Thank you for any assistance you may be able to provide
Regards,
Nicole Trudeau
192.

Mr. Richards never responded to Ms. Trudeau’s email.

193.

Later that day, Mr. Ciaccio sent Ms. Trudeau an email attaching a “usage report”

supposedly showing that Ms. Trudeau entered the Park Avenue location on October 30, 2018,
which Mr. Ciaccio claimed was outside of her 10-day trial period.
194.

In response, Trudeau provided Mr. Ciaccio with a detailed explanation as to why

Mr. Ciaccio’s claim that she visited the Park Avenue location on October 30, 2018 is false.
Specifically, Ms. Trudeau stated:
Dear Robert,
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Thank you for sending the member usage report as it confirms my
suspicions.
On October 16th, just a few days after moving to Manhattan, I
began working in my newly appointed position at the United
Nations Headquarters. My work hours range from 8:30-5/5:30,
Monday through Friday. You can see on the other gym attendances,
following the start of my position, I was in only after 6pm. On the
day in question, October 30th 2018, I was in the office from
8:30am until after 5pm. I had a full schedule of morning meetings,
including with the assistant of Prince William. Although I thank
you kindly for sending you report, it is inaccurate. I have many
high ranking UN staff who will attest to my whereabouts at the
time in question (as well as many emails sent from the same time
from my desktop computer). The fault of your "system" on this day
further adds to the questionability of your system in general and/or
staff abilities.
As previously stated, I am requesting the full refund of amounts
mistakenly charged to my account.
Regards,
Nicole Trudeau
195.

In his response to Ms. Trudeau’s explanation, Mr. Ciaccio simply responded

“Unfortunately at this time all I can do is put in your cancellation as of your original email.”
196.

TSI continued to charge Ms. Trudeau additional fees after she first provided

notice of cancellation, and Ms. Trudeau never agreed to or authorized these charges.
FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF
(New York General Business Law §349)
On Behalf of Plaintiffs Tuan, Album, Horton, Luciano, Miller and Trudeau
197.

Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference all preceding paragraphs as if they

were set forth again herein.
198.

As alleged herein, Defendants have been engaged, and continue to engage, in

consumer-oriented conduct towards Plaintiffs that was and continues to be false, misleading and
deceptive in a material way.
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199.

Plaintiffs have suffered, and continue to suffer, damages as a result of the

deceptive conduct alleged herein, including, but not limited to, being unlawfully charged fees in
connection with the cancellation of their TSI memberships.
200.

Defendants’ conduct constitutes a willful violation of GBL §349.
SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF
(D.C. Consumer Protection Procedures Act §§28-3901, et seq.)
On Behalf of Plaintiff Braxton

201.

Plaintiff Maya Braxton realleges and incorporates by reference all preceding

paragraphs as if they were set forth again herein.
202.

As alleged herein, Defendants have been engaged, and continue to engage, in

consumer-oriented conduct towards Plaintiff that was and continues to be false, misleading and
deceptive in a material way.
203.

Additionally, Defendants have: (i) stated a material fact which misled Plaintiff

and (ii) failed to supply Plaintiff with copies of service contracts for her to execute.
204.

Plaintiff suffered, and continues to suffer, damages as a result of the deceptive

conduct alleged herein, including, but not limited to, being unlawfully charged fees in connection
with the cancellation of her TSI membership.
205.

Defendants’ conduct constitutes a willful violation of D.C. Consumer Protection

Procedures Act §§28-3901, et seq.
THIRD CLAIM FOR RELIEF
(Connecticut Unfair Trade Practices Act §42-110, et seq.)
On Behalf of Plaintiff McCarthy
206.

Plaintiff Ryan McCarthy realleges and incorporates by reference all preceding

paragraphs as if they were set forth again herein.
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207.

As alleged herein, Defendants have been engaged in unfair and/or deceptive acts

or practices or misrepresentations towards Plaintiff that were misleading and deceptive in a
material way.
208.

Plaintiff suffered, and continue to suffer, damages as a result of the deceptive

conduct alleged herein, including, but not limited to, being unlawfully charged fees in connection
with the cancellation of his TSI membership.
209.

Defendants’ conduct constitutes a willful violation of Connecticut Unfair Trade

Practices Act, §42-110, et seq.
FOURTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
(Mass. Consumer Protection Act, M.G.L.A. c. 93A §§1 et seq.)
On Behalf of Plaintiffs Knorr and Mitchell
210.

Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference all preceding paragraphs as if they

were set forth again herein.
211.

As alleged herein, Defendants have been engaged, and continue to engage, in

unfair and/or deceptive acts or practices or misrepresentations towards Plaintiffs that were and
continue to be false, misleading and deceptive in a material way.
212.

Plaintiffs have suffered, and continue to suffer, damages as a result of the

deceptive conduct alleged herein, including, but not limited to, being unlawfully charged fees in
connection with the cancellation of their TSI memberships.
213.

Defendants’ conduct constitutes a willful violation of MGL 93A §§1, et seq.
FIFTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
(Conversion)
On Behalf of Plaintiffs

214.

Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference all preceding paragraphs as if they

were set forth again herein.

47

Case 1:19-cv-02812-MKB-RLM Document 1 Filed 05/13/19 Page 48 of 49 PageID #: 48

215.

As alleged herein, Defendants have interfered with Plaintiffs’ possessory right or

interest in money by unlawfully charging and receiving payments in connection with the
cancellation of the Plaintiffs’ memberships.
216.

As a result of Defendants’ conduct, Plaintiffs have suffered damages for which

they are entitled to injunctive relief and damages to the greatest extent permitted by law.
PRAYER FOR RELIEF
WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs respectfully requests that this Court:
A.

Declare that the practices complained of herein are unlawful;

B.

Enjoin Defendants from continuing to engage in unlawful practices;

C.

Determine the damages sustained by Plaintiffs as a result of Defendants’ unlawful

conduct, and award those damages against Defendants and in favor of Plaintiffs, plus such prejudgment and post-judgment interest as may be allowed;
D.

Award Plaintiffs any applicable statutory damages;

E.

Award Plaintiffs any and all other applicable damages;

F.

Award Plaintiffs their reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs; and

G.

Grant Plaintiffs such other and further relief that the Court deems just and proper.
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DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL
Plaintiffs hereby demand a trial by jury on all issues of fact and damages.
Dated: May 13, 2019
New York, New York

Respectfully submitted,
WIGDOR LLP
By: ___________________________
David E. Gottlieb
Taylor J. Crabill
85 Fifth Avenue
New York, NY 10003
Telephone: (212) 257-6800
Facsimile: (212) 257-6845
dgottlieb@wigdorlaw.com
tcrabill@wigdorlaw.com
Attorneys for Plaintiffs
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